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Statement of the Case

The Lenox Education Association (LEA) charges that efforts by the Lenox School
Committee (School Committee) to stop a work-to-rule job action constitute inter-
ference with employees® protected rights. Hearing Officer Stuart A, Kaufman
Issued a decision upholding the LEA claim on January 10, 1980, from which the School
Comnittee timely appealed. 6 MLC 1708. The School Committee filed a supplementary
statement on February 13, 1980, to which the LEA responded on March &4, 1980. Based
upon the entire record and the parties' submisslions, we hold that certaln aspects of
the work-to-rule constituted protected activity and that the School Committee's
response to those actions violated Section 10(a) (1) of G.L. c.150E (the Law).

Findings of Fact

No materjal facts are seriously cﬂs;:uted.l We therefore adopt the findings of

1
The School Committee's supplementary statement included 15 pages of requested
findings of fact, but lgnored the directive of 402 CMR 13.13(5) that, "A party claiming

that the hearing officer has made erroneous findings of fact shall identify the findings

challenged and direct the attention of the Commission to the evidence supporting the
party's proposed findings of fact." (emphasis added) Under these circumstances, we
may accept the hearing officer's statement of facts. In any event, the only substan-
tial departure from the hearing officer's fact findings urged by the School Committee
concerns the alleged 'passive resistance’ campaign of the Association. See Hearing
Officer's Decision, fn.3. Resolution of the dispute noted in fn.3 is unnecessary to
our determination of this appeal and is therefore not a "material fact' which we must
resolve. See 402 CMR 13.13(7).
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the hearing officer, which, for the purposes of this opinion, we summar ize as
follows:

The School Committee and the LEA commenced bargaining in November, 1977 for a
new collective bargaining agreement to succeed the one explring on August 31, 1978.
When no agreement had been reached prior to the beginning of school in September,
::ZZ:; the LEA initiated a series of actions designed to apply pressure on the School
ttee.

On September 5, about two-thirds of the faculty attended an LEA meeting at
the Lenox Holiday Inn. There, John Barrett, chairperson of the LEA Crisis Commit-
tee, presented the Committee's recommendation that the faculty engage in a "work-to-
rule" job action in order to support the LEA's negotiating commlttee. Such an
action, he explalned, would consist of the following: from predesignated places,
teachers would enter and leave thelr school bulldings en masse at the beginning and
end of the 'work day," as that term Is defined by the coliective bargaining agreement;
teachers would no longer engage In 1ight conversation with principals or assistant
principals; and teachers would not initiate questions at faculty meetings. The LEA
ratified the recommendation of the Crisis Committee. Following the LEA meeting,
the teachers belatedly attended the staff orlentatlion meeting scheduled by the super-
Intendent, Roland Milier. The work-to-rule action of the LEA was reported in the
September 11 edition of the Berkshire Esgle, a newspaper of general circulation in
te Lenox area.

On September 25, 1978, the LEA again met. This time, the Association voted to
escalate the work-to-rule, Prior to this meeting, teachers had been leaving the
school buildings at the end of the 'work day,'' but had been correcting papers,
preparing lessons, and performing other school-related work at home, Escalation
meant that teachers would complete all of their obligations within the confines of
the *work day."

The LEA initiated other actions as well. For Instance, 59 of the 80 teachers
in Lenox submitted requests for personal leave for October 3 (all of which were
denied by Miller), and substantlally increased numbers of teachers made requests
to see their personnel files, Two teachers indicated to thelr principal that they
were suspending thelr dutles with respect to certaln extra-curricular actlvities;
both teachers, after discussion with the principal, assured him they would resume
thelr activities.,

On September 29, Miller issued a memorandum to all faculty addressing the LEA
work-to-rule action.” He stated, "[I]t has been reported In the media and | have

2The full text Is as follows:

T0: All Faculty
FROM: Roland M, Miller
DATE: September 29, 1978

It has been reported to me that there have been Instances where faculty members
may have used the classroom as a forum to advocate, elther directly or indi-
rectly, positions taken by the Lenox Education Association with respect to

: (footnote continued on following page)
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received some student complalnts regarding the failure to promptly grade papers

and the withholding of other services which have been customarily performed In the
past."” Miller concluded, "To avoid any misunderstanding, each of you should under=-
stand that we shall view the failure to perform duties which have been traditionally
performed as a slowdown or withholding of services and, hence, a violation of the

Law, and, as Superintendent, | would have to take appropriate actlion, however distaste-
ful that may be.,

On September 27.3 LEA Secretary Bonnle gamevale drafted a letter which she
intended to sent to parents of her students.” In the letter, Carnevale explained to

z(fbotuote continued from previous page)

current negotlations. This use of the classroom in an attempt to Influence
the children is very clearly a violatlon of the law as well as a serious breach
of professional ethlics. Hopefully, the reports are not accurate and no

teacher has engaged In this kind of activity: 8ut, 1f this were to happen, we
would view it as a violation of the law and respond accordingly.

Further, it has been reported in the media and | have received some student
complaints regarding the fallure to promptly grade papers and the withholding
of other services which have been customarily performed in the past. As a
strategy, ‘work to rule' attempts to equate a contract with the rules of
employment. Yet, there is little or no relationship between the two because
contracts do not attempt to describe teacher work rules in a definitive way.
Indeed, teachers are professionals and, by definition, their "work rules"
cannot be published in labor contract language. For example, typical contracts
do not include any language concerning correcting of tests or evaluating student
work, etc, as these are veiwed as part of the teacher's professional obligation.
In our situation where the contract has expired and the Committee has extended
the terms and conditions of employment that existed last year, the teacher
organization has the same obligation under the so-called status quo doctrine.

In other words, if the Lenox Education Assoclation Is entTtled to last year's
terms and conditions, Is not the school system as well?

Furthermore, Chapter 150E, Section 9A, of the Massachusetts Genera) Laws states
that “...no public employee or employee organization shall induce, encourage
or condone any strike, work stoppage, slowdown or withholding of services by
such public employees."” To avold any mi sunderstanding, each of you should
understand that we shall view the fallure to perform dutles which have been
traditionally performed as a slowdown or withholding of services and, hence,

a violation of the law, and, as Superintendent, | would have to take
approprlate actlon, however distasteful that may be.

We are in the mldst of mediation and following the procedures outlined in the
Law to resolve our differences. Hopefully, all will conform to the require-
ments of the law and will allow the bargaining process to continue wlthout
disrupting the educational program.

3All dates hereafter refer to 1978 unless otherwise indicated.

“The full text Is as follows:
[] n (footnote continued on following page)
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the parents how the work-to-rule would affect her teaching actlivities, Specifically,
Carnevale sald, (1) she would not work past 3:15 p.m. on school-related activities;
(2) she would cease sending home weekly evaluations; (3) she would cease publication
of a monthly newletter to parents; and (4) she would be avilable to meet with parents
only during her planning period. As fully explained In the hearing officer's decision,
Carnevale used two teaching teachniques, weekly evaluations of the students and a
monthly newletter to parents, which were Individual to her and not In general use

by Lenox teachers. We find from the record and the hearing officer's factfindings,
however, that teachers, Including Carnevale, made themselves avilable to meet with
parents during times other than the planning period, and that ''school-related
activitles" such as correcting papers and lesson preparation often required teachers,
lncluglng Carnevale, to work past the end of the school day, either at school or at
home.

"(footnote continued from previous page)
Dear Parents,

As you are probably aware, the Lenox Education Assoclation has been negotiating
for the past 10 months with the School Committee to settle on a contract.
Despite our sincere efforts to come to an agreement with the Schoo! Committee,
we have been unable to resolve our differences. It Is because of this that
the members of the L.E.A. have decided to ‘work to rule" and will continue
doing so untll a contract settlement Is reached.

In particular, what this means for you and me at this time Is that | will not
be working beyond 3:15 p.m. on school related activities. What | will be
doing besldes my usual planning and teaching In school Is trying to keep up on
your children's work and get it out to you. For the time being | will have
to give up my weekly evaluations and the upcoming September Highlights news-
letter. These are things that | personally do and are not systemwide, They
are also something that | could not possibly get done in school and It is
with regret that | set them aside for now.

Please be assured that should you need to meet with me or | with you, we
could make arrangements to meet during my planning perlod In school during
the day.

| personally feel very strongly about the position the L.E.A. has taken and
would welcome any of you to call me to discuss our situation regardless of

the fact that you may be for or against this action. | would also urge those
of you who are so Inclined to call any or all School Comittee members with any
questions you feel should be directed toward them. :

| am looking forward to the time when our contract Is settled and we can
return to normal working conditions.

Sincerely,
Bonnie Carnevale

s‘l’he LEA as charging party has the burden on all elements of Its affirmative case.
{Footnote continued on following page)
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for various reasons not germane to our declsion, Carnevale never sent the
letter to the parents. She did, however, distribute It to varlous teachers, and it
was posted on a bulletin board withthe erroneous Inscription, "Bonnle C. sent the
following letter to her students' parents.” The letter found Its way to Miller who,
with Principal Marguerite Cameron, entered Carnvale's classroom the morning of Octo-
ber 6. Miller displayed a copy of Carnevale's letter to parents, and asked whether
she had sent It out, She sald that she had not. He referred to a statement In the
letter regarding keeping up with children's work, and asked whether she anticipated
dolng that. She sald that she was keeping up with work. He asked her whether the
third paragraph, which said that meetings with parents would take place during the
school day, meant that she would not meet with parents after school. That was what
it meant, she sald. He then asked whether seh ever had, In fact, met with parents
after school. She gave some examples of having done so. Finally, Ml)ler asked
whether Carnevale intended to stop sending home her weekly evaluations and her
monthly newsletter, She said that she did. He asked why. '‘Because | am In a work-
to-rule situation,” she responded. He sald that those activities were customary and
nust, therefore, be continued, She argued that the activitles were voluntary and
had been done on her own time., Miller then asserted that she had to do them., When
asked why, he sald that work-to-rule was not a legitimate excuse for stopping her
activities, adding that had her excuse been a >rofesslonal one or one related to her
home-school communications, it would have been legitimate., They argued further
about the effect of work to rule, until finally Miller declared, "Cut the crap."
As Cameron followed Miller out of the classroom, she turned to Carnevale, apologized,
and said that she had advised Miller not to come.

Later that day, Miller sent a letter to Carnevale, which stated In pertinent
part:

As | explained to you, If you were to take the steps outlined
in your letter, you would, indeed, be withholding services that
you have customarily provided, Further, your reason for such
action, as you have explained, would be to support the "work to
rule' action of the Lenox Education Assoclation and that such
action would continue "untl! a contract settlement Is reached."

So that there Is no misunderstanding, | want you to understand
that Marguerite and | expect you to provide those services which
you have customarily provided over the years. This is a directive
and, specifically applied to the areas mentioned In your letter
of September 27, means the following:

1. You are to "keep up" with the work of the children as you have
done in the past. When we met, you assured us this was heing
done and, thus, | see no problem here at the present time.

g(footnote continued from previous page)
For the reasons elaborated below, we conclude that one such element would be that
teacher avalilability after school was not a duty of employment. The LEA falled to
establish this element. ' .

0
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2. You are to continue with the "weekly evaluations' ment ioned
in paragraph two.

3., You are to Issue your newsletter as you normally have done.

4. You are to accomodate parental requests for conferences and
not restrict them to the school day.

| certainly recognize the difficulties that some teachers are having
in deciding what Is proper and Improper in the present situation and,
under the assumption that you did not realize that you might be acting
improperly, | am not going to put this letter in your personnel file,
My reason for visiting with you today and writing this letter Is so
that you will have clear guidelines as to what Is expected of you.

Sometime subsequent to their October 6 meeting with Carnevale, Hiller and -
Cameron declded that Carnevale did not have to prepare her newsletter. Thelr
declsion was based, according to Cameron, on the fact that the newsletter was
something Carnevale did on her own and had not been requested to do. Cameron phoned
Carnevale to tell her this, and Carnevale asked Cameron to put it In writing. On
October 20, Cameron sent notice to Carnevale that she was not obligated to Issue
her newsletter as she normally had done.

On October &4, LEA President Donna Donovan sent a letter to her studegts'
parents describing the Impact of work-to-rule on her teaching activities.
Specifically, Donovan sald, (1) she would correct papers, meet with parents and deal

6‘|‘Iu= full text is as follows:

pear Parent(s):

As you are probably well aware, the Lenox teachers are at a '"work to rule"
sltuation, This Is a result of the Inabllity of the bargaining committees
of the Lenox Education Assoclation and the School Committee to reach accord
over several contract Issues.

in an effort to pro&uce the most harmonious understanding between you and | .
at this difficult time, | will attempt to explain how the above situation
will or will not, Impact my classroom.

| expect to be as prepared as | have always been, adhering to the highest
ethical qualities of my profession. My dedication, like any teacher's,
cannot be determined by a timetable. Therefore my performance In the class~
room will be, as it has always been, of the highest quality.

| expect to be able to correct assignments during my free period and lunch=
time. 1f you wish to see me for a conference, it will be held at those
times. Call the school, leave a message, and | will return the call.
Assisting children with individual academic and/or personal problems will be
done at recess time(s) also.

There are several areas that go beyond the "normal obligatlons' of teachers

’ 0 (footnote continued on following page)
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with students® special problems only during free perlods such as lunch and recess;
(2) the coffee hour she planned for parents would be postponed; and (3) she might

not be able to make complete comments on students in the take-home folders she pre-
pared twice a month., As the hearing officer found, the coffee hour and the take-home
folders were educatlonal practices individual to Donovan and not iIn general use by
Lenox teachers. As we found above with respect to Carnevale, however, teachers
generally performed school-related activitles such as grading papers and meeting with
parents and students beyond the confines of the school day. ’

At 9 a.m. on October 6, Donovan entered the Center School teachers' room.
Valting there were Miller and Cameron. The principal told Donovan that they wanted
to speak to her about the letter that she sent. Miller then took out a copy of the
letter,/ and began to question Donovan about it, He asked her if her statement that
she planned to correct assignments during her free periods meant that she was not
going to Keep up with her work, Her reply indicated that she would keep up. He
asked her If her statement that she would hold parent conferences durlng her free

6(footnote continued from previous page) .

that | performed in the past. | refer specifically to the attached sheet.
This sheet briefly describes my personal program for enhancing home/school
communications. It is not a reflection of school pollcy.

| would normally be planning and communicating to you about the coffee hour.

| have declded to postpone.this until agreement In bargaining has been reached,
and will contact you at that time. (1 bring it to your attention now for
advanced notice as | do each year.)

Your child will be bringing home a T.H.F. (take-home-folder) twice a month

on Mondays. There Is a place for both parents and teacher comment. This

is something ) usually do at home, Therefore 1f no teacher comment Is written
it should be understood that | did not have time to do It during the day.

There are other areas in regards to the communications sheet that may necd
clarification as time goes on. | will work under the assumption that negotia-
tlons will be resolved soon, and therefore see no need to mention those areas
at this time.

i sincerely hope | can plan, and look forward to, the coffee hour in the
very near future. It Is one of the most pleasureable ways | have found of
getting parents interested in thelr child's classroom, as well as helping to
clear up any present or future misunderstandings about what goes on in the
room,

| look forward to meeting each of you and working with you to make your child's
year in fourth grade both educationally sound and interesting.

Sincerely,
ponna M. Donovan

7nlller received the letter as a parent, having previously requested that his
daughter be placed in Donovan's classroom.
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periods meant that she would refuse to meet with parents at other times. She

replied that if the conference could not be held during her free period and was
serious encugh, she would not refuse to accommodate a parent who requested an after-
school conference, and that she had In fact handled three conferences at her own
initiative over the phone in the evenings. Miller then asked whether her statement
that she would assist children with personal problems at recess times meant that

she was neglecting the needs of the children. She assured him that she would deal
with problems as they came up and in the most direct way possible. Upon Miller's
Inquiry, Donovan confirmed that her coffee hour had been postponed. He asked whether
this had anything to do with collective bargaining, and she sald that It did.
According to Donovan, there was some discussion about her assertion that these acti-
vities were voluntary and therefore could be curtailed during work-to-rule. Hiller
asserted that they were customary and must, therefore, be provided. Miller also
expressed his bellef that what Donovan had told him contradicted the implications

of her letter to parents, Miller testified that he left Indicating that he would
have to think more about Donovan's letter, Donovan testified that Miller left asser-
ting that Donovan's fallure to perform customary activities was a withholding of
services and that he took the letter as 3 serious offense about which he would have
to do something.

On October 12, an advertisement appeared In a local newspaper. At the top was
bannered, "Notice!! Lenox Taxpayers.' Below that was a body of text, and at the
bottom was the note, ""Pald for by Lenox gducatlion Assocliation,” followed by the
names of Donovan, Carnevale, and two other LEA officers. The text read, In part, as
follows:

The Lenox Education Assoclation would llke to clarify what
“working to rule" Indicates. It means that the traditional work of
the teacher, that Is, correcting papers, planning lessons, confer-
ring with parents, recording grades, etc. will be done during the
confines of the school day. Unfortunately, this does not leave time
for the many personal contributions and Involvements that teachers
voluntarily bring to thelr classrooms. However, we want to assure you
that Lenox teachers will continue to adhere to the highest ethical

* qualitles of our profession. Our dedication cannot be determined
by a timetable. Therefore, our performance In the classroom will be,
as always, of the highest quality.

The next day, an article In the Berkshire Eagle reported that the School Com—
mittee had Issued a strong statement of support Tor the superintendent. The article
alleged that the statement came in response to an LEA vote to condemn Niller for

his stated disagreement with Donovan and Carnevale.

On the same day, Miller lssued a pemorandum to all faculty. It stated:

It has come to the attentlion of the school Committee that one or

more members of the faculty intend to write and deliver letters to
parents which directly or indirectly refer to the collective bar-
galning process or to what the Lenox Education Association refers to as
“work to rule,”

i
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On Instructions of the School Committee, | am hereby advising you
of the following: :

1. School children are not to be used for the dellvery of such
correspondence;

2, Such correspondence Is not to be prepared on school time
or with the use of school facilities or materlals.

You are further advised that such correspondence If otherwise
delivered to parents Is not to substantially Indicate that you are
or t::t'you anticlipate the withholding of any services contrary
tot aw,

The School Committee fecls that the law provides appropriate means
for the resolution of collective bargaining Issues and has asked
me to convey to each of you that it hopes that you will permit that
process to function,

Also on October 13, Miller sent a letter to Donovan. It read:

Following my Inquiry of you on October 6, 1978, concerning your
October & letter to the parents of your fourth grade class, | have
discussed the contents with Principal Marguerite Cameron and have
decided to Issue this as a letter of reprimand to be placed In your
personnel file. This reprimand Is written for what, In my opinion,
Is conduct unbecoming a teacher for the writing and distribution
of your October & letter and for possible Insubordination with
respect to my meso to the faculty of September 29.

As an alternative to having this reprimand placed In your file, |
will extend to you the following optlon. You may, If you choose,
write a second letter to your parents to clear up several polints,
First, the fourth paragraph Is, In my judgment, very misleading
with respect to parent conferences, You state, "l expect to be
able to correct assignments during my free perlod and lunchtime,
If you wish to see me for a conference, It will be held at those
times" (underlining mine). Both Miss Cameron and 1, prlor to our
conference with you, Interpreted those statements to mean that you
would refuse to meet with a parent for whom an after-school con-
ference was the only reasonable possibility., However, during our
mecting, you stated to us that you would indeed make arrangements
that would accomodate such a request from a parent. Therefore, If
you choose to write another letter to parents, you must make It
clear that you will accomodate parents who request an after-school
meeting.

Second, you state at the end of paragraph four: Massisting the children
with individual and/or personal problems will be done at recess

times also." While one could read this statement to mean that you
would restrict such assistance to recess times, you stated at our
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October 6 meeting that you would continue to assist chlldren at
any time which, In your professional judgment, would be most
effective in dealling with the issue, Again, If you choose to
write a second letter, It must make clear that assistance to
children will be provided as you have customarily odne. Finally,
such a letter must also assure parents that you plan to provide
written comments on the '"Take-Home Folders' to the same extent
as In the past.

With reference to the School Comnlittee's directive of October 13
concerning letters to parents, you may send the letter home with
the children and you may prepare it on school time and with the use
of school faclllities snd materlals. However, you may not Indicate
that you are or that you anticlpate the withholding of any services
contrary to the law.

If you choose to write the letter, it is to be distributed no later
than the end of the school day on Friday, October 20, with a copy
sent to Miss Cameron and to me. Otherwise, you are to slign the
enclosed copy of this letter and return it to be placed in your
personnel file., 1f | recelve nelther a copy of a second letter to
parents nor a signed copy of this letter by Monday, October 23, this
letter shall be placed in your file and shall be considered by the
administration and School Committee as @ letter of reprimand, (em-
phasis In original).

Because Donovan became 111, Miller extended until October 27 the time In
which she wasito write the clarifying letter.

Donovan did not, however, write the letter. Instead, on October 27, she wrote
to Miller that she felt It was her oblligation as a teacher to keep her students’
parents Informed of all that went on in her classroos, and that she had always done
S0,

To have parents draw concluslons based on heresay (sic) and
inadequately documented newspaper articles, without a more arti-
culated explanation from myself, can only foster unfounded assump=
tions that could be Injurious to the learning environment. |
therefore think It would be conduct unbecoming a teacher not to
communicate to them that thelr child's education was indoed not
belng neglected.

Donovan went on to accuse Miller of insulting her both professionally and
personally, She sald that she considered the reprimand to be without basis In:
fact and an attempt at harassment and intimidation In violatlon of her rights.

Hiller malled a response to Donovan on November 2. He wrote:

[T]o suggest that the doctrine of academic freedom glves you

the right to advocate the position of the LEA and to support the
withholding of services is to use the guise of academic freedom

i 00
boie U Copyright © 1981 by Massachusetts Labor Relations Reporter



MASSACHUSETTS LABOR LASLS cﬁe AS 7 MLC 7N

Uenox School Committee and Lenox Educatlon Assoclation, 7 MLC 1761

as a conduit for what Is essentlally a political statement to
parents. (Emphasis la origlnal).

He then relterated his bellef that her letter to parents was misleading based on what
she sald during thelr October 6 meeting, He confirmed that the reprimand would be
placed in her personal file, and Invited her to submit for the flle a written answer.
On November 8, Donovan placed in her flle a notice that Miller had granted her request
to attach to the reprimand Miller's September 29 memorandum to all faculty, her
October &4 letter to parents, Miller's letter granting her an extention of time to
prepare a clarifying letter, her October 27 response to the reprimand, and Miller's
November 2 reply to her response,

Opinion .

The hearing officer found that Carnevale and Donovan were engaged in lawful,
concerted activity protected by Section 2 of the Law In drafting and/or sending bhe
letters and In restricting thelr activities as they did. He therefore found that

Miller's actlons, specifically his September 29 memorandum to all faculty, his
- October 6 meetings with Donovan and Carnevale, his October 6 letter to Carnevale,
and his October 13 and November 2 letters to Donovan, const | tuted Interference,
restralnt, and coercion in violation of Section 10(a) (1) of the Law because he
threatened disciplinary actlon If the teachers persisted in engaging In their protec-
. ted activity. '

The School Committee argued to the hearing officer and relterates on appeal that
Donovan's and Carnevale's actions, as part of the LEA work-to-rule, constituted a
strike withln the meaning of Section 9A(a) of the Law. Their actlons were therefore
not protected under Section 2, and the employer was entitled to discipline them.

The School Committee further argues that there is no proof of unlawful motivation
on Hiller's part,

The Commission now has before It several cases involving ‘“work=to-rule' actlvity.
in each of these cases, including this one, public employees, in an attempt to bring
pressure on their employer, have threatened to cease or actually ceased certain acti-
vities while continuing to perform the bulk of theilr usual work. In each case the
Commission must determine whether such actlions are proscribed under Section 9A(a)
of the Law, which reads:

No public employee or employee organization shall engage in a strike,
and no public employee or eaployee organization shall Induce, encourage
or condone any strike, work stoppage, slowdown or withholding of
services by such public employees.

section 1, the definitional section of the Law, deflnes “strike"; however, '‘work
stoppage,* "'slowdown,’ and "withholding of services,' as used In Section 9A, are
undefined.

In most work-to-rule cases, as in this one, the employer does not contend that
the employees are engaged In a full-fledged strike. Rather, the claim Is made that
the employees are engaged in a 'wtihholding of services" or '‘slowdown' proscribed
by Section 9A(a). Our task is to coordinate the sectlon 1 definitlon of strike with
the Sectlon 9A prohibitions, and to laterpret the different sections in a harmonious
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not contradictory, manner, Commissioner of Banks v. McKnight, 281 Mass. 467, 183
N.E.2d 720 (1933), while preservlng the vitality of the words of the statute, Conmon-
wealth v. Wade, 372 Mass. 91, 360 N.E.2d 867 (1977).

The Definition of Strike

We begin our Inquiry by analyzing the definition of strike contained In Section 1:

a public employee's refusal, In concerted action with others, (1) to
report for duty, or his (2) willful absence from his position, or his
(3) abstinence In whole or In part from the performance of the dutles
of employment as established by an existing collective bargaining
agreement or Iin a collective bargaining agreement explring lmmediately
preceding the alleged strike, or In the absence of any such agree~
ment, by written personnel policies in effect at least one year prior
to the alleged strike;.... (numbers supplied for later reference).

As noted by number above, the definition has three distinct elements. The first,
refusal to report for duty, covers the traditional concept of the full-fledged
strike. With respect to this element, we need only note that the refusal to report
for duty would constlitute a strike only when there Is a correlative right of the
employer to require attendance, Simllarly, employees' absence from thelr positlions,
the second aspect of the definition, would be a strike only when thelr presence
may be required. The third element of the definition proscribes both total and
partial refusals to perform duties of employment and meticulously delineates the
clrcumstances under which an employer may require employees to report or to be present
at thelr positions. It reads: ‘'absence in whole or In part from the performance of
dutles of employment as established by an existing collective bargaining agreement
or In a collective bargaining sgreement expiring Immediately preceding the alleged
strike, or In the absence of any such agreement, by written personnel policles In
effect at least one year prior to the alleged strike.” See Town of Milford, 6 MLC
1327 (1979); City of Beverly, 3 MLC 1229 (1976). Ve have departed Trom thls construc=
:lon ‘;"%7 when a pubTic emergency has been Involved, Town of Arlington, 3 MLC 1276
1976).

We have had little occasion to consider the breadth of the three criteria by
which dutles of employment are to be measured. Two extremes may be rejected,

One extreme is that the Legislature intended to preclude by the strike definition
all forms of withholding of services. Two factors lesd us to the conclusion that the
Legislature had no such intent, First, the definition Is carefully drawn by reference
to what has been done In the past, elther by agreement of the parties or by long-
standing employer practice. Second, In developing the current strike definition, the

aIn Town of Arlington, employees protested working conditions by refusing to sand
fcy streets. In finding t‘\e protest to constltute a strike, we held, '"We belleve that

a public employer has certain residual suthority, In an emergency situatlion, to
protect the public interest by requiring the performance of services which would
otherwlse be voluntary." 3 MLC at 1277.
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Legislature rejected anapparently more comprehensive dc:flnltlon.9

The other extreme, advocatdd by the LEA here, is that the definitlion must be
read literally, and the definition of duties includes only those expressly stated in
writing In a collective bargaining agreement or in personnel policles. Such a
construction would frustrate both the common sense and the obvious Intent of the Legis-
lature to ensure the delivery of basic public services, Collective bargaining agree-
ments often fall to define dutles of employment expressly. The contract may nowhere
say that a teacher shall teach, that a flre fighter shall fight fires. Nevertheless,
some dutles are so essential to the very nature of the job as to require no explica-
tlon. Others are necessarily Implled in the collective bargaining agreement under
which the employees work.

Ve concur with the policles of both courts and arbitrators that implied In
collective bargaining agreements Is an obligation to continue certain customs and
past practices of the partles. The followlng extracts are typlcal of the views of
arbitrators:

“it Is generally accepted that certain, but not all, clear and long
standing practices can establish conditions of employment as binding
as any written provision of the agreement,"

Alpena General Hospital, 50 LA &8, 51 (1976) (D. Jones, Arbitrator).

“j¢ is well recognized that the contractual relationship between the
parties normally consists of more than the written word. Day-to-day
practices mutually accepted by the parties may attaln the status of
contractual rights and dutles, particularly where they are not at
varlance with any written provision negotiated Into the contract by
the parties and where they are of long standing and were not changed
during contract negotiations."

Metal Speclalty Co., 39 LA 197, 198 (1947) (M. Volz, Arbltrator).

“Custom can, under some clrcumstances, form an implied term of a
contract. Where the Company has always done a certain thing, and

the matter Is so well understood and taken for granted that It may be
sald that the contract was entered Into upon the assumption that

the customary actlon would continue to be taken, such customary action
may be an Implied term."

9.f:pe'clflc:ally, the strike definition In Senate Doc. 1771(1973) was rejected.
The discarded language read:

(8) “Strike" shall mean a public employee's refusal, in concerted action with
others, to report for duty, or his willful absence from hls position, or his stoppage
of work, or his abstinence In whole or In part from the full, falithful, and proper
performance of the duties of employment, for the purpose of Inducing, influencing or
coerclng.a change In the conditions, compensatlion, rights, privileges or obligations
of public employment; provided that nothing herein shall limit or impair the right
of any public employee to express or comuunicate a complaint or opinion on any matter

related to Trfondltlons of employment.
L
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Esso Standard OI1 Co., 16 LA 73, 74 (1951) (V. McCoy, Arbitrator).!®

In order to constlitute a past practice enforceable as a "duty" of employment,
the practice must be long-continued, well understood, and mutually concurred In by
the partles.!! Columbia Broadcasting Corp., 37 LA 330 (1961), cited with approval ,
Great Atlantic and Paclfic Tea Co., %3 1A 372 (1966). The origin of the practice Is
not decisive, Whether it began on the Instructions of the employer or was instituted
“yoluntarily" by the employees is not determinative if the practice Is longstanding
and has been regularly performed. In determining past practices, we are concerned
only with group, not Individual practices. It Is the union which is party to the
contract, not individual members of the bargalining unit. To find otherwise would dis-
courage Individual employees from dolng additional or creative tasks, since they
would thereby become oblligated tc continue such extra work at the risk of discipline
or discharge. Therefore, Indlividual performances which are superior to, or Individual
techniques which are different from, the bargaining unit's generalized level or means
of performance cannot be consldered enforceable past practices 12 for purposes of
~ determining required dutles In a strike or work-to-rule context.

The New York Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) and the New York courts
have taken a similar approach In determining those duties which public employees
must perform to avold committing an 11legal strike as defined by Section 210(a)
of the New York Civil Service Law (Taylor Law). Strike Is defined by Sectlon 210(a)
to mean “any strike or other concerted stoppage at work or slow down by public em~
‘ ployees." Town of Hempstead v. gel imore-Merrick United Secondary Teachers, lnc.,
85 Misc.2d, 282 (Superlor Court, Nassau County 19/5) involved a refusal by teachers
to attend a "Back to School Night'"--an annual event where teachers meet parents.
The court found that desplte the absence of any reference to the affalr In the appli-
cable collective bargalning agreement:

...the falr, reasonable and obvious inference to be drawn from the
mutual conduct of the parties is that this once-a-year after hours
program has, by custom and usage, been regarded by both the admini-
stration and by fthe unlon members as part of thelr teaching dutles and
professional responsiblilities and 1t Is too late In the day for the
teachers to malntaln that they have an absolute, unilateral right to
refuse any further participation in the program. In short, the court
holds that the long standing conduct of the rties establishes quite
plainly that attendance at t ck-to-Sc - t' Is an actlivity
which the partles have considered to be an integral part of professional

( ;okcoord. steelworkers v. Warrlor and Gulf Navigation Co., 80 S.Ct. 1347, 1351-1352
1960) .

"As noted above, fn.B8, we have enunclated an exception to this rule where an
emergency substantially affecting public health or safety requires employee response
out of the ordinary course.

27his approach Is similar to that taken by arbltrators in past practice declslions

In multi-employer settings. See, e.g. National Brewlng Company of Michigan, 31 LA
300 (1958) (M. Kahn, Arbltrator).
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duties of the teachers and the teachers do not have the option to

refuse to participate therein. B85 Misc.2d. at 286 (emphasis
supplied), )

See also $ v. New Rochelle, 11 PERB 7538 (1978); Amalgamated Transit Unlon
"~ Local Division 0, B.PERB 3056 (1975); Yonkers Firefighters, Local 62, I.A.F.F.,

12 PERB 3067 (1979) ("'the concerted fallure by public employees to perform voluntary
. services in the usual and customary manner constitutes a strike....') 12 PERB at

nz.

To conclude: ‘‘duties of employment,' abstinence In whole or In part from which
constitutes a strike, Include not only those dutles specifically mentioned in
existing or recently explired collective bargaining agreements (or personnel policies
in effect for more than one year), but also those practices not unique to individual
esployees which are Intrinsic to the position or which have been performed by

erployees as a group on a consistent basis over a sustained perlod of time.

The Sectlion 2‘0! Prohibition

Section 9A(a) reads as follows:

No public employee or employee organization shall engage in a strike,
and no public employee or employee organization shall induce, encourage
or condone any strike, work stoppage, slowdown or withholding of
services by such public employees, :

section 9A(b) provides recourse to the Comission “(w)hen a strike occurs or is about
to occur.'

It Is clear from our Interpretation of the definition of strike that a broad
range of partlal withholdings of services constitutes a strike. The gquestion
remalns, does the Section 9A(a) reference to 'work stoppage, slowdown or wtlhholding
of services" regulate Job actions not covered by the term tgtrike"? We think not.

. Our construction of the term strike encompasses wost notlons of the meaning of
‘work stoppage, slowdown or withholding of services.' Certainly "work stoppage'
seems to refer to what has classically been understood to be a strike, and whether
the work stoppage Is continuous or Intermittent would be of no Importance given the
“in whole or In part” language of the strike definition. “Slowdown' presumably
means the delayed or slower performance of work, and again, would seem covered by the
“in part" language of the strike definition, mJithholding of services” Is certalnly
contained in the strike definition to the extent that “services® relates to '‘dutles
of eaployment." Thus, we conclude that the Section 9A(a) prohibitions are coextenslve
with the Section 1 definition of strike, which Includes traditional ideas of both
total and partial refusals to perform required dutles.

Work-to-Rule as Protected Activity

, Glven this construction of Sectlons 1 and 9A(a) of the Law, we turn to the
relationship of these sections to Section 2, which protects the right of employees ''to
engage in lawful, concerted activities for the purposes of collectlve bargalning or
other mutual ald or protection, free from interference, restraliat or coerclon,"

ul
]
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Sectlon 2 by its terms affords employees protection similar to that of Sectlion 7
of the National Labor Relatlons Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. 151 et seq. {NLRA) ; cases
arlsing under the NLRA are helpful In interpreting c.150E although we must be mindful
of differences between the statutes and the public and private sectors., See Cit
Manager of Medford v. Labor Relations Comuission, 353 Mass. 519, 233 N.E.2d 310

1 . We have generally looked to federa precedent in determining whether certain
activity Is protected, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, & MLC 1415 (1977), or unpro-
tected, City of Boston [Edward Hunt, Sr.), & MLC 1036 (1979) (although we do not

always follow it, City of Boston (Howar Rotman), 3 MLC 1101 (1976). Activity which
Is concerted and intended to Improve the lot of fellow employees as a group loses Its
protectlon when It Is unlawful, Southern Steamshl Co. v. NLRB, 316 U,S.31, 10 LRRM
suh (1942); violent, NLRB v. Fansteel Metalur |cai Corp., 306 U.S.240, & LRRM 515
(1939); In breach of a collective bargalning agreement, NLRB v. Sands nfg. Co.,

306 U.S.332, & LRRM 530 (1939); or indefensibly disioyal to the employer, N 8 v, Local
Union No.1229, IBEW (Jefferson Standard), 346 U.S. h6h, 33 LRRM 2183 (1953).

Full-fledged strikes, generally protected In the prlvate sector, are unlawful and
therefore unprotected under c.150E, Furthermore, less comprehensive Job actlons which
come within the sweep of Sectlon 1, as discussed above, are also illegal and hence:
unprotected.!3 However, a withholding of services, engaged In by employees In fur-
therance of their collective bargaining goals, which Is not rohiblted by Section 1 of
the Law, would gain the protections of Sectlon 2, subject to the normal constralnts
:l:al': thc‘z action not be violent, unlawful, In breach of contract, or Indefensibly

sloyal.

The Merits of this Case

We turn now to the actlons taken by Carnevale and Donovan and Miller's responses
to those actlons.

Carnevale drafted a letter to the parents outlining how the work-to-rule would
affect her activitles as a teacher, Four aspects of the letter warrant our attention,
1) Carnevale's refusal to work beyond 3:15 p.m. on school-related activities; 2) her
cessatlon of weekly evaluations; 3) her cessation of a wonthly newsletter; and B) her
refusal to meet with parents owther than during her planning period.

Under the principles we have described above, we find that the weekly evaluations
and the monthly newsletters are activities Individual to Carnevale, and are not
customary dutles which teachers In Lenox are at least lmplicitly required to perform.
We do find, however, that teachers as a group have traditionally been expected to work
beyond 3:15 p.m. when required to keep current with thelr work, We also find that it
Is the past practice and expectation that teachers be avallable cutside of school
hours to meet with parents to discuss students., Thus, were Carnevale as part of work-

'3we note that under the NLRA, case law has somewhat restricted the right of
private sector employees to engage In partlal strikes, See VAW Local 232 v. Wis. .
Rel. Com'n. (Briggs & stratton), 336 U.S.245, 23 LRRM 2361 (1 s Lo nt'l. Assn.
oF Mach. & Aero Wkrs. v. Wis. Emp. Rel, Com's., 427 U.S.132, 92 LRRN 'ﬁz T (1976). The
NLRA Is silent on partlal strikes, and the restrictions developed In response to that

vold. Because c.150E specifically prohibits partial strikes, federal case law on the

Issue Is larT:lI jrrelevant,
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to-rule to cease production of the weekly evaluations and newsletter, that would be
activity protected under Section 2 of the Law. However, refusing to do any work
outside of the specified hours of the work day, be it classroom preparation or meeting
with parents, would constitute a strike if the refusal were concerted with other
teachers,

Carnevale never sent the letter. The only aspects of her letter which she carried
out were the cessations of the weekly evaluations and the newletter. Having learned
this, Miller responded with a discussion with Carnevale on October 6 and a follow-up
letter. In both Iinstances Miller ordered Carnevale to perform all of her dutles,
including the weekly evaluations and the monthly newsletter. Because we have found that
she was protected In her right to refuse to perform those functions, Miller's order,
backed by a threat of discipline, constitutes unlawful interference, restraint and
coercion violative of Section 10(a)(!) of the Law.!4 The order to perform the other
dutles, however, was permissible inasmuch as these constituted dutles of employment
whose cessation is proscribed by Sectlion 9A(a). Because she did not cease to perform
those dutles, she wasnever reprimanded and there Is no further violation.

Donovan's case Is somewhat different. She drafted and sent a letter to the
parents. Three aspects of the letter are material: 1) Donovan's willingness to correct
papers, meet with parents, and deal with students' special problems only during free
periods and lunchtime; 2) Donovan's cancellation of her speclal coffee hour; and
3) the possibility that the twice-monthly take-home folders might be less complete
than before the work-to-rule. The clear import of her letter was that Donovan would
not work after school correcting papers or assisting parents and children. We have
found that this had been a customary practice among teachers in Lenox. Thus, were Dono-
van, in concert with others, to carry out her Intentions In this regard as her part
of working to rule, such would constitute a strike within the meaning of Section 1 of
the Law. However, the cancellation of the coffee hours and the possibly incomplete
take-home folders merely reflect a cessation of practices individual to Donovan and
thus, under the principles outlined above, were not required as duties of employment.

Miller responded to Donovan's actions by meeting with her on October 6. Donovan
told Hiller that she would continue to have conferences after school if required and
in fact had done so on her own Initiative. She also assured him that she would
dea) with the problems of the children as they came up. Miller told her that she
had to perform all of those duties she had in the past performed, under threat of
disclpiine., We find that his statement to her is a violation of Section 10(a)(1) of

“‘l’he School Committee contends on appeal that there was no proof that Miller was
i1legally motivated in warning Carnevale to continue to perform all previous educatlonal
activities. The argument falls. Miller was clearly attempting to require Carnevale t
do certain things which we hold she was protected In refusing to do. Furthermore, as
the Sixth Circult of Appeals held in Natlonal Cash Register Co. v. NLRB, 460 F.2d
945, 81 LRRM 2001 (6th Cir. 1972), den. cert, 410 U.5.958 (1973), "'If the employer acts
in good faith but mistakenly assumes that his conduct does not Infringe on protected
activity,...the employer will be held to have interfered with protected rights without
a sufficlent justification, and the absence of an Improper motive will not exculpate
him from a violation of Section 8(a)(1)." B81 LRRM at 2012,
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the Law with respect to the coffee hour and the take-home folders, but does not con=
stitute a violation as to the other dutles which were traditionally required of Lenox
teachers,

Following the conversation, Miller wrote a letter to Donovan reprimanding her for
nconduct unbecoming of a teacher', namely writing and distributing the October &
letter. The letter gave Donovan the opportunity to avold the reprimand by writing a
letter of clariflcation to the parents. Donovan refused to write such a clarifying
letter and the repimand was entered in her file.

Donovan's letter to the parents had the likely and foreseeable effect of convincing
them that she would not be performing certain expected and required services., Ve
must conslider the legal and factual context of the letter. It came in the midst
of a bargaining dispute and during a well-publicized and escalating work-to-rule
job action. An employee communicated directly to the parents, Indicating which services
would be provided and which would not.'> By Its nature, the letter constituted more
than a mere threat to wtihhold certaln services, because these services are in part
triggered by requests from the services' reciplents. This turns what might otherwise
be viewed as a mere threat into an accomplished fact, because we may reasonably
infer that the reclplents’ expectation that the services will be withheld will reduce
demand for such services, See NLRB v, Local Unlon No,.1229, IBEW (Jefferson Standard),
346 U.S. 464, 33 LRRM 2183 (1953). An employee In these “trcumstances s effectively
telling the parents that the employer s no longer offering certaln services. Where
the employer Is entitled to offer (and require its employees to perform) these services,
this actlon Is an arrogation of the employer's prerogative. Ccf. Honolulu Rapid
Transit Co., 110 NLR8 1806, 35 LRRM 1305 (1954). Because Donovan dld not actually
withhold her services, we cannot find her actions to constitute a strike, We cannot
ignore, however, the fact that Donovan's letter accompl Ished in part the same end--
interference with the employer’s right to have those services provided. Thus, with
respect to her assertion that she would not perform those dutles which we have found
she was obligated to perform, we find Donovan's letter to the parents to be conduct
unprotected by Section 2 of the Law. Miller's reprimand is thus permissible except
insofar as he reprimands her for conveyling her intention to refrain from performing
those functions which do not constitute nduties of employment."

Donovan could have avolded the reprimand by clarifying her letter to the parents.
we conclude that when an employee has an obligatlion to perform a service and creates
a credible public impression that that service will not be performed, the employer |s
entitled to require the employee to retract that publlic statement and give assurances
that the work will be performed. Accordingly, we find that to the extent that Donovan
was reprimanded for refusal to clarify her letter to the parents the reprimand was
legal.

Remaining for consideration 1s Miller's memorandum issuved to all teachers on

15The mere fact of communicating directly to the parents would not trouble us under
these circumstances were the withdrawal of services limited to those not required under
our analysis. Donovan's letter was less a political statement than information to the
parents about what they could expect of the teacher in the coming year, the type of
communlication routinely occurring between parent and teacher.

Copyright © (981 by Massachusetts Labor Relations Reporter



MASSACHUSETTS LABOR CASES CITE AS 7 MLC 1779

Lenox Sc| ee an nox tducation Assoclatlon, 1
September 29, which stated In part:

To avoid any misunderstanding, each of you should understand that

we shall view the fallure to perform dutles which have been tradi-
tionally performed as a slowdown or withholding of services and,

hence, a violation of the Law, and, as Superintendent, | would have

to take appropriate action, however distasteful that may be. (emphasis
supplied).

We must determine whether it may reasonably be said that, under the clrcumstances,
the memorandum tended to interfere with the employees® free exercise of thelr rights
under Section 2 of the Law. Bristol County House of Correction, 6 MLC 1582 (1979).
It Is unclear to what duties the emphasized portion of the memorandum refers. |If

the memorandum is understood to command performance of only those dutles explicitly
or Implicitly required by the prior collective bargaining agreement, the memorandum
would impinge on no protected right. If, however, the memorandum Is understood to
require the performance of all duties, both those Individual to a particular teacher
and those In effect system-wide, the memorandum Is an overbroad directive violative
of Section 10(a)(1). We think the latter Interpretation more likely, The work-to-
rule was escalating, and two teachers had already disclaimed any Intentlion of performing
certain dutles with respect to extracurricular activities. We need not determine
which aspects of the LEA work-to-rule constituted a strike and which aspects consti-
tuted protected activity. (t Is sufficient to find that the teachers may reasonably
have interpreted the memorandum to be an attempt to coerce performance of all dutles,
whether individually undertaken or collectively required. Thus, we hold that the
September 29 memorandum constlituted an additional violatlon of Section 10(a) (1) of
the Law, ’

We conclude with a general comment about the conduct of Superintendent Miller
in this case, Miller was faced with a difficult situation as the LEA embarked upon
a Job actlion largely untested In this state, As Is apparent from our discussion
above, many aspects of the work-to-rule might be found to violate Sectlon 9A(a) If
the matter were itigated; some aspects we have found to be protected. Hiller
attempted to keep the situation from getting out of hand, and it is evident from his
actlons that he wanted the matter settled as amlcably as possible. His conduct was
directed largely against unprotected activity, and we have held that conduct permis=-
sible; we have found violations only where his actions were overbroad.

concLusion

On the basis of the foregoing, we conclude that the School Committee violated
Sectlon 10(a)(1) of the Law by Interfering, restralning and coercing employees in the
exercise of thelr rights guaranteed by Sectlon 2 of the Law, to the extent that the
School Committee sought to require employees to perform duties mot explicitly or
implicitly required under the most recent collective bargaining agreement.

ORDER
Pursuant to Section 11 of the Law, the School Committee 1S HEREBY ORDERED to:

1. Cease and desist from interfering with, restraining and coercing
employees in the exercise of their guaranteed rights;

I
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2. Take the following affirmative action which will effectuate the
purposes of the Law:
a. Remove from Donna Donovan's personnel file all letters of
reprimand which were Issued as the result of the 'work-to-rule."
b. Immediately post, in plain view, and leave posted for thirty
(30) days from the date of posting, in a consplcuous place
in each of Its school bulldings where teachers usually congre-
gate and where notices are usually posted, a signed copy of the
Notice attached hereto.
c. Notify the Commission In writing within ten (10) days of recelpt
of this Declsion, of the steps taken to c«ply herewith,
SO ORDERED,

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
LABOR RELATIONS COMMISSION

PHILLIPS AXTEN, CHAIRMAN

JOAN G. DOLAN, COMMISSIONER
GARY D. ALTMAN, COMMISSIONER
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NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE MASSACHUSETTS LABOR RELATIONS COMMISSION
AN _AGENCY OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

The Massachusetts Labor Relatlons Commission has concluded that the Lenox
School Coamittee engaged In prohibited practices under the public employee collective
bargaining law In the Fall of 1978.

Specifically, the Massachusetts Labor Relations Comnission has concluded that
the actlions of the Lenox School! Committee constituted an Interference with, restraint
and coercion of Donna Donovan and Bonnle Carnevale In the exercise of lawful concerted

activity,

WE WILL NOT interfere with, restrain or coerce Donna Donovan or Bonnie Carnevale
In the exerclse of lawful, concerted activity.

Further, WE WILL permanently remove from the personnel files of Donna Donovan
all letters of reprimand which were Issued as the result of the 'work-to-rule,"

LENOX SCHOOL COMMITTEE
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CITY OF CAMBRIDGE AND CAMBRIDGE POLICE ASSOCIATION, MUP-3386 (5/6/81). Ruling on
Motion to Reassert Jurisdiction in Case Deferred to Arbitration,

(20 Jurisdiction)

22.2 pre-award deferral to arbitration
{30 Commission Practice and Procedure)

91.6 deferral to prior arbitration award

Commissioners particlpating:
Phillips Axten, Chairman

Joan G. Dolan, Commissioner
Gary D. Altman, Commissioner

Appearances:
Michael C. Gilman, Esq. - Representing the City of Cambridge
Robert L, Wise, Esq. - Representing the Cambridge Pollice Associatlon

RULING ON MOTION TO REASSERT JURISDICTION
IN CASE DEFERRED TO ARBITRATION

Statement of the Case

On March 24, 1981, the Cambridge Police Association (Association) filed with
the Labor Relations Commission (Commission) a request to reassert jurisdiction in
a matter previously deferred to arbitration. We allow the request.

The matter first came before the Commission when, on March 14, 1979, the
Association filed a prohiblted practice charge alleging that the City of Cambridge
(City) had violated Sections 10(a)(5), (3), and (1) of General Laws Chapter 150E
(the Law). Following Investigation, the Comnisslon issued a Complaint of Prohibited
Practice and Deferral Order on April 11, 1979. The Complaint alleged the following:

a. By practice established prlor to January 29, 1979, police officers
employed by the City were permitted to attend court sessions and
receive compensation for such attendance on so-called “short days.*’

b. On January 29, 1979, the City promulgated and implemented Joint Order
No. 1 which, in part, changed the procedure by which police offlicers
could attend court sessions or receive compensation for such attendance
on so-called 'short days."

c. The Order described in paragraph 3(b), above, was promulgated and
implemented without prior consultation or negotiation with the
Assoclation, } .

The Complaint further alleged that by the acts described in paragraphs (b) and (c),
above, the City had violated Sections 10(a) (5) and (1) of the Law. Because the
alleged conduct of the City appeared to be covered by the collectlve bargaining
agreement between the Clty and the Association, the Commission deferred the matter
to arbitration, but retained jurisdiction.
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On April 17, 1980, a hearing was held before Arbitrator David M. Grodsky
involving the following issue:

Did the City violate Articles |, Section 1; Ill, Section 1; IV,
Section 2; X1, XX, Section 3 and XXi of the collective bargaining
agreement when on January 29, 1979, the Chlef of Police issued
General Order #) that no officer, for health and safety reasons,
shall request or receive a trial date for a short day unless
authorized by the Cambridge Police Prosecutor or members of his
staff? If so, what shall be the remedy?

On February 13, 1981, Arbitrator Grodsky issued his award. The arbitrator
found that the City did not violate the agreement.

Discussion and Ruling

In Cohasset School Committee, MUP-419 (6/19/73), the Commission adopted the
policy first enunciated by the National Labor Relations Board (Board) in Collyer
insulated Wire, 192 NLR8 837, 77 LRRM 1931 (1971), that where conduct complained of
In anunfair labor practice charge is also arguably a violation of a collective bar-
gaining agreement between the parties to the dispute, the Commisslion will defer
to the parties' agreed-upon dispute resolution procedures. Cohasset and Collyer
involve situatlons where, at the time the unfair labor practice charge is brought,
the issues have not yet been submitted to arbitration. In Boston School Committee,
1 MLC 1287 (1975), the Commission adopted Spielberg Manufacturing Co., 112 NLRB 1080,
36 LRRM 1152 (1955), wherein the Board set forth its deferral policy in situations
where, at the time the unfair labor practice charge is brought, the issues have
already been the subject of an arbitration award.

Deferral in Cohasset/Collyer cases is appropriate where the conduct complained
of is potentially both a violation of the Law and a violatlion of the collective
bargaining agreement between the parties, and where the parties through that agree-
ment have committed themselves to mutually agreeable procedures for resolving their
disputes. Deferral in Boston School Committee/Spielberg cases Is appropriate where
the-arbitrationproceedings have been fair and regular, all parties agreed to be bound
by the procecdings, the decision of the arbitrator Is not repugnant to the purposes
and policies of the Law, and the arbitration award disposes of the substantially
identical Issue presented to the Commission. When the Commission defers under
Cohasset, it retains jurisdiction pending completion of the arblitration proceedings.
"“T7, at that time, a party moves for further consideration by the Commission, the
Commnission will consider the arbitrator's decision In light of the Boston School _
Committee/Spielberg standards. See, Cohasset, supra; Collyer, supra; P. Nash, Arbi-~
tratlon Deferral Policy Under Collyer-Revised Guide lne_s_T{_STB). )

% Lab. Rels., (CCH) par. 9031.22

We have thoroughly and carefully reviewed the arbitrator's decision in light of
the Boston School Committee standards. We are left uncertain of the precise analysis
and holding of the arbitrator and are therefore unable to conclude that the arbitra-
tor has disposed of the substantially identical issue upon which we issued a
Complaint. When it is unclear whether an arbitrator has resolved the issue pending
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A . 2 .
before the Commission, we believe that deferral is inappropriate. Thus, we will
not defer to an arbitration award when it cannot be said with reasonable certainty
that the arbitrator has resolved the issue pending before us.

Conclusion

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing, we reassert jurisdiction and order that
an Expedited Hearing shall be held on the Complaint on Tuesday, May 26, 1981
at 10:00 a.m.

SO ORDERED.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
LABOR RELATIONS COMMISSION

PHILLIPS AXTEN, Chalrman
JOAN G. DOLAN, Commissioner
GARY D. ALTMAN, Commissioner

2ppparently, the Board would agree. See, 1TT Continental Baking Co., Case No.
25-CB-11118, 103 LRRM 1499 (Advice Memorandum) (1724780).

@
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(60 Prohibited Practices by Employer)

65.91 request for representation at disciplinary interview
{80 Commission Decisions and Remedial Orders)

82.11 back pay

82.13 reinstatement
(90 Commission Practice and Procedure)

92.51 appeals to full commission

Commissioners participating:
Phillips Axten, Chairman
Joan G. Dolan, Commissioner
Gary D. Altman, Commissioner

Appearances:

Jerome T. McManus, Esq. - Counsel for the American Federation of
State, County and Municipal Employees,
Council 93, AFL-CIO

Valerie J. Semensi, Esq. - Counsel for the Commonwealth of Massa-
chusetts, Commissioner of Administration

DECISION ON APPEAL
OF HEARING OFFICER'S DECISION

Statement of the Case

On March 25, 1981 Hearing Officer Robert M.Schwartz issued his decision in this
matter pursuant to the expedited hearing procedures established by Section 11 of
General Laws Chapter 150E (the Law).! The hearing officer concluded that the Common-
wealth of Massachusetts (Commonwealth) had violated Section 10(a) (1) of the Law by
denying an employee union representation. .

The Commonwealth filed a timely notice of appeal of the hearing officer's
decision pursuant to Commission Rules, 402 CMR 13.13. The Commonwealth submitted
a supplementary statement on April 24, 1981, As elaborated below, we affirm the
hearingofficer's determination that the Commonwealth violated SEction 10(a) (1)
of the Law.

Findings of Fact

The parties have not challenged the hearing officer's findings of fact, and
we therefore adopt them in their entirety. See Commission Rules 402 CMR 13.13.
We summarize the facts as follows.

In April, 1980 John Bourgois was promoted from the position of Mental Health

'For the full text of the hearing officer's decision, see 7 MLC 1963.

il
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Attendant (MHA) I to the position of MHA IV. He was also transferred from the
Northampton State Hospital to the Springfield area office. Before beginning his
new duties, Bourgois was required to attend a one-week training program. From

the start, the training session did not go well for Bourgois. On May 12, 1980, the
first day of classes, Bourgois' supervisor, Louise Flynn, called him into an office
and asked him about some of the answers he was giving in class. One of the
instructors told Bourgois that he wasinot taking the training ''seriously.”"” Flynn
called Frank Robinson, an assistant Area Director, to complain that Bourgois was
becoming a ''detractor' from the program. The next day Robinson came to the training
program and called Bourgois into a meeting. Flynn was also present. Robinson in-
formed Bourgois that he wanted to discuss Bourgois' behavior during the training,
and that the discussion would be taped and placed in Bourgois' record. Bourgois
demanded that a Union representative be present at the meeting. Robinson replied
that the meeting was not disciplinary in nature, that a Union representative would
not be present, but that the meeting would not be recorded. Although the testimony
of Robinson and Bourgois differed on this latter point, the hearing officer
credited Bourgois' testimony that he was assured by Robinson that the discussion
would not be placed on his record. Based upon these assurances, Bourgois agreed

to participate in the discussion without union representation,

On the following day, May 14, 1980, following a mid-morning break in the
training program, Bourgois received a letter from Robinson summarizing the discussion
that had taken place on the previous day and concluding with the statement:

“This memo will be placed in your personnel file." Bourgois was upset by the letter
since it had been his understanding that no reference to the previous day's meeting
would be placed in his personnel file. He did not join in the remaining portion

of the morning session of the training program.

During the lunch break, Louise Flynn telephoned Robinson to inform him that
Bourgois had not participated in part of the training program that morning. Robin-
son instructed Flynn to order Bourgois' reassignment to the Springfield area office
and out of the training program.

Later that afternoon, Bourgois received a letter from Flynn which stated:

As per our conversation on 5/13/80 regarding your participation

and performance in the training program being conductéd for the
service coordination program staff, you are directed not to attend the
remaining training sessions this week. You are hereby reassigned to
the 736 State Street facility...This reassignment is being

implemented because of your failure to participate constructively in
the training being provided and, specifically, your failure to Pparti-
cipate appropriately during the training conducted on the morning

of May 14,

Bourgois was subsequently demoted to his previously held MHA | position.
Opinion

The Commonwealth's arguments on appeal are three-fold. First, the Commonweaith

N
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alleges that the hearing officer would have concluded that the May 13, 1980 meeting
was held in compliance with the Law had he considered the Commonwealth's post-hearing
brief in formulating his decision.? Second, the Commonwealth argues that the

hearing officer exceeded his authority in ordering ttat the ten percent (10%) interest
added to the back pay order be computed quarterly. Finally, the Commonwealth

argues that the hearing officer improperly orderéd the posting of a '""Notice to
Employees" for sixty (60) days rather than for the thirty (30) days most commonly
ordered by the Commission. '

We conclude that the hearing officer's fajlure to consider the Commonwealth's
post-hearing brief has resulted in no prejudice whatsoever. The Commission has
considered the brief in deciding the case on appeal. In addition, it is our
responsibility to engage in a de novo review of all the legal issues raised in
this case. Hadley School Committee, 7 MLC 1632, 1634 (1980). Furthermore, as
noted above, the Commonwealth on appeal has not challenged the facts as found by
the hearing officer.? ’

In assessing whether it was a violation of the Law for.the employer to deny
Bourgois' request to have a Union representative present at the May 13 meeting,
we generally apply the principles set forth in NLRB v. Weingarteg, 420 U.s. 251,
88 LRRM 2689 (1975) and Commission decisions decided thereunder.” Under Weingarten
an employee's right to union representation on request is limited to situations in
which the employee reasonably believes that the interview with the employer will
result in discipline. The test is whether a reasonable person in the employee's
situation would have believed that adverse action would follow. Amoco Chcmical
Corp., 237 NLRB 69, 99 LRRM 1017 (1978).

The right to have a union representative present does not attach unless the
meeting is investigatory in nature. Thus, where a meeting is not held to elicit
information from an employee or to support a further decision to discipline an
employee but is merely convened so that the employer can deliver a warning, Weingarten
protections do not apply. Baton Rouge Water Works, 103 LRRM 1056 (1980); NLRB v.
Certified Grocers of Calif., 587 F. 2d 4h9, 100 LRRM 3029 (9th Cir. 1978).

Applying these criteria to the instant case, we conclude that the employer
should have granted Bourgois' request to have a Union representative present.

27he Commonwealth submitted a timely post-hearing brief, which was apparently
misfiled, and was not considered by the hearing officer in reaching his decision.

3we deem the Commonwealth's assertion that the May 13, 1980 meeting complied
with the Law to be a legal conclusion. In any event, the statement does not
address "specific evidence warranting either a contrary finding on a material issue
or an additional material finding not made by the hearing officer.'" Hadley School
Committee, supra.

uCommonwealth of Massachusetts, 4 MLC 1415 (1977); Commonwealth of Massachusetts,
5 MLC 1653 (H.0. 1979).

L
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Bourgois had been previously warned about his behavior at training sessions, He
was called to a meeting with his supervisor, at which a higher-level supervisor
from another location was present. He was told that the session would be tape-
recorded, and that the tape would be placed in his record. These facts support

a conclusion that Bourgois was reasonable in his belief that the meeting was
scheduled to Investigate possible disciplinary action. Additionally, the
presence of the tape recorder and the statement that the results of the interview
would be placed on Bourgois' record indicate that the purpose of the meeting was
to gather information about Bourgois' attitude toward the training program.

The Commonwealth asserts that by consenting to proceed with the May 13
meeting despite the denial of his request to have a union representative present,
Bourgois waived his right to protest that denial. According to the facts as found
by the hearing officer, however, he did so only after Robinson assured him that the
meeting was not disciplinary, that it would not be tape-recorded, and that a record
of the discussion would not be placed in his record.

We will not find a waiver of an employee's Weingarten rights where such
waiver was obtained through false assurances that no adverse consequences would
result from the hearing.

The Remed

For the foregoing reasons we affirm the hearing officer's ruling that the
Commonwealth violated Section 10(a) (1) of the Law. Based upon all of the facts,
we conclude that such violation is directly linked to the Commonwealth's subsequent
decisions to place a letter in Bourgois' personnel file, transfer him back to the
Springfield office, and demote him to an MHA | level position.

Despite the Commonwealth's argument that Bourgois' transfer and demotion were
occasioned by his failure to fully participate in the training program on May 14, 1980,
rather than by the interview which took place the previous day, we concliude that
the various disciplinary actions taken by the Commonwealth are inextricably
linked to the interview at which Bourgois' request for union representation was
denied. The letter informing Bourgois of his transfer out of the training
program began with the words "as per our conversation on May 13, 1980 regarding
your participation and performance in the training program.' Robinson testified
that the '"bottom line'' regarding his expectations of Bourgois, discussed during
the May 13 interview was the basis for his decision to transfer Bourgois on May 14,
Finally, Bourgois was transferred and demoted because of concerns the employer
had regarding his attitude, which was the very subject discussed at the meeting
on May 13. Because we find that the disciplinary action taken against Bourgois
was linked to the interview at which his request for a union representative was
denied, the appropriate remedy is to return Bourgois to the status he enjoyed
prior to the Commonwealth's violation of the Law. We therefore order that he be
reinstated to the MHA 1V level position, after which, of course, he may be required
to satisfactorily complete any necessary training for that position. He is also
entitled to back pay for losses suffered as a result of his wrongful demotion.
Additionally, we deem it appropriate that the Commonwealth expunge from Bourgois'
personnel record all notations of his transfer and demotion and all related
documents.

ML
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The Commonwealth raises objections to only two aspects of the hearing officer's
remedial order., First, the Commonwealth challenges the hearing officer's compu-
tation of interest due Bourgois on the back pay he lost by virtue of his demotion.
More specifically, it argues that the quarterly compounding of interest goes beyond
the level of interest allowed under General Laws, Chapter 231, Section 6C.5 That
statute, however, sets the rate of interest to be added to damages in contract
actions by the clerk of courts if no rate is set by the contract. It is not
controlling in this case. Moreover, the Commission has regularly ordered the
interest added to back pay orders to be compounded quarterly.

Finally, the Commonwealth opposes the hearing officer's order that it post a
notice to employees for sixty (60) days rather than thirty (30) days. Although
the Commission customarily orders a thirty-day posting, the hearing officer's
action was unquestionably within his discretion,

ORDER
WHEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED:

1. The Commonwealth of Massachusetts shall cease and desist from
restraining, coercing, and intimidating employees in the exercise
of rights protected by Section 2 of the Law;

In order to effectuate the purposes of the Law, IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED
that the Commonwealth of Massachusetts shall take the following affirmative action:

1. Immediately reinstate John Bourgois to his former position as MHA IV
and make him whole for any loss of wages or other benefits which he has
suffered as a result of his wrongful demotion, together with interest
on any sums owing computed at ten percent (10%) and compounded
quarterly from the date of demotion;

2. Expunge from John Bourgois' personnel records all notations of his
transfer and demotion and all related documents;

3 Post in conspicuous places where employees of the Department of
Mental Health of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts usually congregate,
and leave same posted for a period of not less than sixty (60) con-
secutive days, the attached Notice to Employees;

4, Notify the Canmission within ten (10) days of receipt of this Decision
and Order of the steps taken to comply herewith.

SO ORDERED. COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
LABOR RELATIONS COMMISSION
PHILLIPS AXTEN; DRai rmian
JOAN G. DOLAN, Commissioner
GARY D. ALTMAN, Colmissioner

5
The Commonwealth does not contest the award of back pay itself.

L
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NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE MASSACHUSETTS LABOR RELATIONS COMMISSION
AN AGENCY OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

After a hearing at the Massachusetts Labor Relations Commission at which all parties
were given an opportunity to be heard, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts has been

found in violation of Section 10(a) (1) of the Law by the denial of union representation
to John Bourgois leading to his demotion and transfer from MHA IV to MHA I,

WE WILL NOT, in any like manner, restrain, coerce, or intimidate employees in the
exercise of rights guaranteed by Section 2 of the Massachusetts General Laws Chapter
150E,

WE WILL reinstate John Bourgois to his former position as MHA IV and make him
whole for any rights, benefits, privileges, and monies lost.by him as a result of
the demotion from MHA IV to MHA I.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

FRANK ROBINSON
ASSISTANT AREA DIRECTOR
DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH
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